IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By-

MARVIN LOUIS JERELDS,

Petitioner/Appellee,

versus

S.CT. CASE NO. 80,420

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellant.

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANNE MOORMAN REEVES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 0934070 112 Orange Avenue,Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 Phone: 904-252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER



#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 25, 1991, the petitioner, Marvin Lewis Jerelds, was charged by information with delivery of cocaine (Count I) and possession of cocaine (Count II). A jury found Jerelds guilty on both counts (R233-234). On September 5, 1991, the trial court adjudicated Jerelds guilty and sentenced him to concurrent sevenyear sentences as a habitual offender. On appeal, the conviction was affirmed by the district court (Appendix). This court accepted jurisdiction of this cause on December 23, 1992.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Agents Parsell, Guy, and Hanton drove an unmarked car around to local street corners attempting to puchase cocaine. They saw Jerelds, whom they did not know, who they stated was not the target of any narcotics investigation, and who did not signal the car in any way. The agents drove up to Jerelds and asked whether he knew Lisa and her whereabouts. (Lisa is a local drug user.) There is contradictory testimony about whether the agents first offered Jerelds a ride to his housing project and then mentioned drugs after they arrived, or asked about drugs first and were joined by Jerelds as guide. It is agreed that the agents prevailed upon Jerelds to buy \$20 worth of crack cocaine from some dealers standing around. Jerelds got the crack from these dealers, turned it over to the agents, and got \$20, which he in turn gave the dealers. The dealers immediately ran off, and the agents made no effort to apprehend them.

2

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Police actions that are not directed toward the interruption of specified ongoing criminal activity and that lead to the arrest of a person not known to engage in that activity are improper and cannot be tolerated. The enactment of section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), does not eliminate the need to insure that government not "play an ignoble part" in the enforcement of criminal law.

#### ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER WAS ENTRAPPED AS A MATTER OF LAW ACCORDING TO THE "OBJECTIVE" STANDARD OF ENTRAPMENT WHICH IS VIABLE FLORIDA LAW.

"[I]t is a less evil that some criminals should escape than that the Government should play an ignoble part." Mr. Justice Holmes stated this principle in 1928, <u>Olmstead v. U.S.</u>, 277 U.S. 438, 470, 72 L. Ed. 944, 952, 48 S. Ct. 564 (1928), Holmes, J., dissenting, and Mr. Justice Frankfurter repeated thirty years later in <u>Sherman v. U.S.</u>, 356 U.S. 369, 2 L. Ed. 2d 848 78 S. Ct. 819 (1958), in a separate opinion in which he was joined by Justices Douglas, Harlan, and Brennan.

The idea of a government that refuses to play an ignoble part remains a fundamental concept in our legal system, and this court, in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 473 U. S. 905, 105 S. Ct. 3527, 87 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1985), enunciated a rule to bear the concept out. That rule is the so-called "objective" test for entrapment. It proscribes police "virtue testing" and inappropriate police techniques. For all the reasons put forward since 1928, it is a good rule, and right. It is, moreover, the existing law in Florida. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991); <u>Ricardo v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>Bowser v. State</u>, 555 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). <u>But cf. Gonzales v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (section 777.201 abolished the <u>Cruz</u> objective test).

4

The petitioner, Mr. Jerelds, did not buy the drugs for himself. The purchase was not his idea. He made no money on his purchase. What he got, if anything, was a ride home. The state would justify the undercover officers' actions by pointing to Mr. Jerelds's sentence, at the low end of the guidelines, and assure this court that the trial judge took account of the circumstances of the bust. After all, Mr. Jerelds <u>is</u> an addict, and <u>did</u> make the buy. This is nothing but cavil; worse, it misses the mark entirely. It is not the particular purchase that this case is about, but "standards of justice."

According to the state, this case is not "an appropriate vehicle" for clarification of the law on entrapment. On the contrary, it is a perfect enactment of the inner limit of unacceptable police behavior--where "outrageous" has its beginnings.

The police had no knowledge of drug use on Mr. Jerelds's part; they saw or suspected no "ongoing" activity (except that of the sellers, who escaped handily, without pursuit). There was no reason whatever to conclude that Mr. Jerelds belonged to the "street corner" coterie whose trade was under attack. The random inquiry whether persons know a certain "Lisa" is as little "focused" as the \$150 in the pocket of the decoy "drunken bum" of Jones v. State, 483 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. denied (1983) (entrapment as a matter of law where police acts do not target specific ongoing activities, even though "[s]ociety is at war with the criminal classes" [citation omitted]).

5

It has been suggested that "objective" entrapment has been abolished when the legislature enacted "subjective" entrapment as section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987). <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d at 1349; <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 522 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The suggestion is not a desideratum but a district court's attempt to apply the law as it sees fit. The <u>Gonzales</u> decision represents what has been called the "crime control" model of constitutional procedural requirements, while the <u>Cruz</u> decision stands for the "due process" model. <u>See</u> R. M. Smith, <u>Liberalism and American Constitutional Law</u> (1985), citing H. Packer, <u>The Limits of the Criminal Sanction</u> (1968). The "crime control" adherents look upon the due process model as an "obstacle course" for police and prosecutors. The fundamental problem is that crime control that winks at--even encourages--substandard police conduct can never achieve its object.

#### CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the arguments made and authorities cited herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this honorable court reverse the judgment and sentence of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, and remand this cause to the trial court with directions that the petitioner be discharged.