# 041

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE ÉB 10 1993 ÉRK, SUPREME COURT By... **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

MARVIN LOUIS JERELDS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 80,420

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANTHONY J. GOLDEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #162172 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

####

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the night of March 6, 1991, undercover drug agents from the Orange County Sheriff's Office were driving around in an unmarked car attempting to buy narcotics on local street corners in Orlando. They asked Petitioner if he knew where they could buy twenty dollars worth of crack cocaine. Petitioner said that he did and would take them there. He got into the car and directed the agents to the Piper Ridge apartment complex. There, he got out, approached two or three other black males and returned with a bag of suspected crack cocaine. An agent then gave Petitioner twenty dollars and Petitioner gave it to one of the other black males. Petitioner was subsequently arrested.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Even assuming that the two-pronged test for objective entrapment set forth by this Court in Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985) is still the law of Florida, it cannot be said that, in the instant case, the police were not interrupting a specific ongoing criminal activity and using means reasonably tailored to accomplish that goal. The specific ongoing criminal activity was the street corner sales of crack cocaine. The means reasonably tailored to interrupt those sales was simply for undercover police officers to ask people standing on the street corners if they knew where they could find some cocaine. Without any hesitation or coercion, Petitioner responded affirmatively and obtained \$20 worth of crack cocaine for the police and was The District Court said: "...a police officer asking arrested. a citizen where the police officer could find some cocaine is not the type of police activity which entitles a defendant to the defense of objective entrapment...". If the police conduct involved in the instant case violates the Cruz test, perhaps it is now appropriate to recede from that test in favor of a less restrictive due process standard.

- 3 -

#### ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE SUBJUDICE THAT PETITIONER WAS NOT ENTITLED TO THE DEFENSE OF OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT WAS CORRECT.

The issue of whether or not Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), legislatively abolished the two-pronged test for objective entrapment set out by this Court in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985) was briefed and argued before this Court last year in <u>Munoz v. State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 78,900, and is scheduled for oral argument in April in <u>Adams v.</u> <u>State</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 80,239. The State's position in this case, as it was in <u>Munoz</u> and <u>Adams</u>, is that the Florida legislature enacted Ch. 87-243, s. 42, Laws of Florida, Section 777.201, Florida Statutes, in direct response to this Court's decision in <u>Cruz</u>, and that legislation abolished the <u>Cruz</u> two-pronged test for objective entrapment.

However, even assuming that the two-pronged test of <u>Cruz</u> is still the law of Florida, it can be argued that the police conduct involved in the instant case meets that test. The specific ongoing criminal activity involved in this case was the street corner sale of crack cocaine. The means reasonably tailored to interrupt that activity was simply for undercover agents to ask people standing on street corners if they knew where crack cocaine could be purchased. Without any hesitation or coercion, Petitioner responded to such an inquiry by taking the agents to a location where he knew crack cocaine could be found and purchasing \$20 worth of it for them. He now contends

- 4 -

that he was objectively entrapped. The State feels and the District Court held that:

...a police officer asking a citizen where the police officer could find some cocaine is not the type of police activity which entitles a defendant to the defense of objective entrapment...

In <u>Cruz</u>, this Court adopted the view of the New Jersey Supreme Court in <u>State v. Molnar</u>, 81 N.J. 475, 484, 410 A. 2d 37, 41 (1980) that the objective and subjective tests for entrapment can coexist. The New Jersey court fashioned a test of "whether the police activity has overstepped the bounds of permissible conduct" holding that:

> ...when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits a conviction, the predisposition of the defendant becomes irrelevant...

Even using the standard set forth in <u>Molnar</u>, it cannot be said that asking a citizen if he knows where a crime is being committed does not overstep the bounds of permissible behavior and is certainly not so egregious as to impugn the integrity of the judicial system.

Assuming that the two-pronged test of <u>Cruz</u> has been legislatively abolished, the police conduct in this case would still be subject to a due process "outrageousness" test. In <u>Sherman v. United States</u>, 356 U.S. 369, 382-383, 78 S.Ct. 819, 825-826, 2 L.Ed.2d 848 (1958), Justice Frankfurter suggested that due process required a review of these cases checking for "police conduct...falling below standards, to which common feelings respond, for the proper use of governmental power." Under a due process analysis, the defense would have the burden of showing that the challenged conduct was outrageous or shocking. It involves consideration of the totality of circumstances with no single factor controlling. In the instant case, it cannot be said that the State agents' conduct was so outrageous that due process principles would absolutely bar Petitioner's prosecution nor can it be said that this conduct was so egregious as to impugn the integrity of the court in which the case is prosecuted.

In his special concurring opinion in the case subjudice, Judge Cobb suggests that the apparent reaffirmation of <u>Cruz</u> in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991) has been "superceded <u>sub silentio</u>" by this Court's decision in <u>Herrera v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1992), upholding the constitutionality of Section 777.201. Perhaps, it is now appropriate to use this case to specifically reject the two-pronged test for objective entrapment in favor of a less restrictive test grounded in the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions.

- 6 -

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court approve the decision of the District Court of appeal affirming the judgment and sentence of the trial court in all respects.